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ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2022

Group Directors’ Report

The Directors present their annual repert and the audited financial statemenis for the year ended 31 December 2022.
INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

Connells Limited (*Connells”} is a private limited company incorporated in England & Wales with registered number 03187394,

The Connells Group estate agency combines residential sales and lettings expertise with a range of consumer and corporate services
including land and new homes, morigage services, conveyancing, corporate lettings and auctions. At 31 December 2022, Connells and
its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’} trade under 80 brands (2021: 84 brands) from 1,245 {2021: 1,250) estate agency branches (including
lettings only branches).

The Group, through its two subsidiaries, Connells Survey & Valuations Limited and Countrywide Surveyors Limited is also one of the
largest providers of residential survey and valuation services to homebuyers, lenders and other participants in the UK residential
property market. These companies also offer panel management services, administering surveys and valuations on behalt of clients in
addition to carrying out the survey or valuation through its own employed surveyors.

Another subsidiary, Lambert Smith Hampton Group Limited carries on business as commercial surveyors and property advisers,
offering a wide range of professional services to commercial property occupiers, investors and developers within the UK.

A further subsidiary, The New Homes Group Limited operates in the new build sector offering a range of services to house builders and
their customers, including mortgage broking and part exchange management services.

The Connells Group also provides asset management services, managing repossessed and other properties on behalf of lenders and
other clients such as probate providers and has a number of other subsidiaries and joint ventures which provide mortgage broking
services, conveyancing, will writing services and the provision of energy performance certificates.

An overview of the objectives of the business and the challenges it faces, together with the key measures used to monitor the
performance of the business, is set out in the Strategic Report.

Details of financial instruments and associated risks are also provided in the Group Strategic Report and Note 25 to the Financial
Statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who served during the year and up 1o the date of this report were:

DC Livesey

DK Plumtree

RJ Twigg

MJ Lund

JL Notley (appointed 23 March 2022)

PW Moore (appointed 21 April 2022)
RSDM Ndawula {appointed 21 April 2022)
AP Scott (appointed 1 January 2023)

RS Shipperley {resigned 31 December 2022}
DJ Cutter {resigned 25 April 2022)

AJ Burton (resigned 25 April 2022)

IM Cornelius {resigned 31 December 2022)

MJ Lund , PW Mocre and RSDM Ndawula, are also Directors of the ultimate parent undertaking, Skipton Building Society.

The Board places on record its thanks to RS Shipperley who has retired following an exemplary 45 years' service with the Group.
DIVIDENDS

During the year the company paid interim ordinary dividends of £35,000,000 (2021: £60,000,000).

The Directors do not propose a final ordinary dividend in respect of the current financial year (2021: £nil).

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL DONATIONS

The Group made charitable denations of £651,000 during the year (2021: £105,000).

The Group made no political donations during the year (2021 : £nil).

EMPLOYEES

It is Company and Group policy to regularly provide employees with information concerning their roles and responsibilities and the

trading performance of the Company and Group. This policy is to ensure opportunities are available at every level to improve both
employees' individual and corporate performance. Directors regularly brief all employees through a series of meetings and newsletters.
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EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

The Group's approach is to ensure it recruits and promotes the right people regardless of gender, disability, age, sexual orientation or
race, and operates a culture of meritocracy whereby career progression is based on ability. It facilitates opportunities for all employges
to progress and regularly reviews practices and policies. It regards its people as its most valuable asset and is committed to investing
in them to achieve their full potential, without discrimination. The Group Is always looking to progress its diversity and inclusivity
policies.

People with disabilities are given equat opportunities wherever they can fuffil the requirements of the job. If an employee becomes
disabled during their employment with the Group, every reasonable effort is made 1o enable them to continue their career within the
Group.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have
taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that
information.

GOING CONCERN
The Directors have undertaken a thorough assessment of the Group’s financial forecasts to 31 December 2024.

During 2021 the Group ook out a £253.0m loan from Skipton Building Scciety, its ultimate parent undertaking, repayable over 20
years, in order to fund the acquisition of Countrywide ple (“Countrywide”), settle the existing debt within Countrywide and enable
investment and working capital for the Group. The Group has already repaid a significant portion of this loan, and the outstanding
liabitity at the year end is £124.5m (2021: £128.2m). There are no covenants attached to the loan.

The Group is aiso funded by its operating profits ang the cash thereby generated. For the year ended 31 December 2022 the Group
reported a net profit before tax of £67.5m (2021: £111.3m)} and at 31 December 2022 had a cash balance of £107.0m (2021: £119.1m),
after paying dividends totaling £35.0m (2021: £60.0m) to its shareholder. At the date of signing these accounts, the Group continues fo
hold a cash balance of £135.4m (2021: £97.7m).

The Directors have also performed extensive stress testing to model potential market shocks, and the related impact on business
volumes, which include mitigating actions including reducing headcount, capital and other discretionary spend. In particular the
Directors have considered and modelled a number of severe but plausible scenarios, including the impact of a material downturn in the
UK housing market caused by political and economic circumstances. The key assumptions used in this severe stress scenario are as
follows:
- UK housing market transactions fall to the levels seen in the 2008 financial crisis, the lowest on record, a decline of over 30%
on the base scenario. This would have a proportionate impact on most revenue streams as volumes decline.
- House price defiation of 30%.
- Mitigating actions to reduce headcount, capital expenditure and marketing spend.
- No government support has been assumed to be available, but any support available would likely be utilised and improve the
liquidity position further.

The results from such stress testing indicate that the Group would be able to withstand the financial impact. The Group's financial
strength and diversity means that it is well positioned to withstand such a downturm.

A reverse stress test has also been performed, which required a significantly deeper and prolonged downturn for the Group to exceed
available funds, which the Directors consider to be remote. Were this unlikely situation to occur then there are further actions available
and within the control of management to reduce costs and manage liquidity.

As a result of the above and following careful consideration, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the annual financial statements.
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STREAMLINED ENERGY CARBON REPORTING (SECR)

The Board recognises that, as a responsible business, it has an ebligation to operate in a manner that minimises the Group’s impact on
the environment. We operate in a sector that has a relatively low carbon footprint, however we follow relevant environmental legislation
in carrying out our business; and Group policy is to seek to minimise our contribution to environmental damage and maximise our
contribution to safe recycling and reprocessing of waste materials.

The Group's Environmental Policy outlines the ways in which the Group reduces the use of paper, utilises recycling options, reduces
pollution and levels of energy use where possible. Initiatives such as the progressive reduction in company car CO2 emissions by
replacing ageing petrol and diesel cars with hybrid and electric vehicles, the replacement of lighting with low energy units and the roll
out of smart electricity and gas meters are examples of the Group's commitment to operating in an environmentally sustainable way.
The figures below are published in line with SECR requirements.

Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2¢)

Emissions scope 2022 2021
Scope 1 — direct emissions from owned or controlled sources (natural gas and company cars) 4,321 5314
Scope 2 — indirect emissions purchased energy (electricity) 4,715 4,877
Scope 3 — other indirect emissions (business travel in employee owned vehicles) 3,454 872
Total emissions 12,490 11,063

Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data from 1 January to 31 December 2022 gives a total energy consumpfion figure across all
sites (including transport) totalling 58,983,141 kWh (2021: 52,720,977 kWh), The scope 3 emissions data for 2021 includes Countrywide, and
for 2022 it now includes Connells as well as Countrywide resulting in an increase in the emissions we have measured. In terms of emission
intensity, total tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per £m of Group’s turnover is 12.23 (2021: 11.07), which reflects the Group's
relatively low carbon footprint given its size. During 2023 we will agree an emissions reduction plan and net zero strategy. In terms of
methodology, the Group appointed Catalyst and BiU to independently assure the accuracy, completeness and consistency of energy
use and greenhouse gas emissions data within the operations under our direct control. Some data has been estimated using
extrapolation of available data.

AUDITOR

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2008, the auditor will be deemed fo be reappointed and Emst & Young LLP wil
therefore continue in office.

By order of the board

7¢ )

DC Livesey
Director

24 February 2023

Cumbria House
16-20 Hockliffe Street
Leighton Buzzard
Bedfordshire

LU7 1GN
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Group Strategic Report
2022 BUSINESS REVIEW

2022 2021
Revenue £1,021.2m £999.5m
Total income® £1,035.5m £1,003.8m
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, impairment
and contingent consideration (EBITDA)® £124.9m £181.1m
Profit before tax £67.5m £111.3m
Movement in: 2022 LFL® 2021 LFL¢
Estate agency property exchanges -18% +50%
Residential lettings properties under management 0% +3%
Number of morigages arranged -4% +8%
Surveys and valuations completed -8% +26%
Number of conveyancing transactions arranged -21% +56%

2 Total income comprises revenue (2022: £1,021.2m, 2021:£999.5m), other operating income (2022:£12.9m, 2021: £3.1m) and Group share of profit after tax in joint ventures
(2022:£1.4m, 2621:£1.2m).

® Before Group share of profit after tax in joint ventures, dividends paid to non-contralling interests, profit on disposal of Investments and fair value gains on step acquisitions of
Group undertakings

© Like for like excludes the impact of acquisitions mada in 2021.

Connelis Group is the UK’s largest estate agency measured by both market share and number of branches. 2022 is the first full year of
including Countrywide's results following its acquisition on 8 March 2021, The integration continues to progress well with common
systems and processes having been rolled out acress the combined business during the year. The Group continues to believe that a
well-invested high street branch network, coupled with a diversified brand portiolio, provides an attractive offering to its customers and,
consequently, has maintained and enhanced Countrywide’s current branding and service offering, while leveraging its own track record
of positive investment in people and technology.

The UK housing market was, as expected, more challenging in 2022 following the exceptional number of transactions in 2021 fuelled
by the stamp duty holiday, pent up demand following the pandemic and continuing low interest rates. Volumes in 2022 fell with the first
half of the year also being impacted by slow sales pipeline conversion, due largely to a lack of capacity in the conveyancing industry.
In the second half, the impact of the war in Ukraine, cost of living crisis and increasing interest rates impacted the UK housing market,
and the Government's disastrous mini-budget in September adversely affected mortgage affordability and transactions in Q4 reduced
sharply.

Consequently, the Group achieved an EBITDA of £124.9m in 2022, down from £181.1m in 2021. Profit before tax for the year was
£67.5m (2021: £111.3m), this is after charging £20.7m (2021: £52.4m) amortisation on intangible assets created as part of the
Countrywide acquisition, and 2021 benefitting from a one off fair value gain on disposal of joint ventures of £27.1m.

The number of properties that the Group exchanged contracts on during the year (on a like for like basis) was 87,395 (2021: 106,803),
a decrease of 18%, reflecting the more challenging market conditions as the Group maintained its market share and branch footprint.
Consequently, income from property sales was down 18% on 2021 on a like for like basis. At the end of the year, the Group traded
from 1,245 branches (31 December 2021: 1,250).

The Group's mortgage services proposition continues to perform well and the number of mortgages arranged by the Group decreased
by only 4% on a like for like basis, despite the reduction in house sales exchanges. Income from the sale of financial services products
decreased by 2% from the prior year on a like for like basis. The total value of lending generated for UK mortgage providers during
2022 increased by 2% to £36.9bn (2021: £36.2bn) as the Group remains focused on helping more customers to buy homes or reduce
their mortgage outgoings by providing them with a good experience and outcome.

The Group's lettings division manages properties on behalf of landlords, and also has a duty to ensure tenants are kept safe and
compliant with the latest regulations. The number of properties under management by the Group at the year end was 122,614 (2021:
122,518). Income from lettings increased by 4% compared to the prior year on a like for like basis. The Group’s lettings division
continues its investment in people and integrating technology to improve productivity and drive down its administrative costs.

The Group’s conveyancing proposition helps customers navigate the legal side of a property purchase or sale, both with its in-house
conveyancers and third party panel referrals. The number of conveyancing transactions arranged in 2022 decreased by 21% as a
result of the decrease in the number of house sale exchanges.

Our two survey and valuations businesses continue to trade separately, offering their services independently to lenders and other
participants in the UK property market. As a result of the significantly lower volumes in Q4 2022, the total number of survey and
valuation jobs completed in 2022 decreased by 8% year on year on a like for like basis. The Group's Survey and valuation income fell
by &% from the prior year. We continue 1o invest in new technology and process improvements to drive productivity, support clients' risk
management and improve customer outcomes. This includes offering a desktop valuation proposition. We also continue to invest in
people, training new surveyors through AssocRICS development programmes, and the focus remains on delivering great customer
service.
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Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH) is one of the largest commercial property consultancies in the UK with 32 offices and over 900
employees. Working with commercial property owners, investors and occupiers, LSH partners with many household names across
many different sectors, in both the public and private sector. LSH advises on all aspects of commercial property transactions in addition
{o residential block and commercial management. As expected, LSH saw a reduction in activity in 2022, with income down 6% year on
year.

The Group's cost base reduced during the year, with other operating expenses decreasing to £315.9m from £348.6m on a like for like
basis (decrease of 9%). Following the acquisition of Countrywide, management have integrated the two businesses, merging support
functions where it makes commercial sense to do s0, and reducing duplicated costs. Focus on cost control remains an absolute priority
of the business.

We remain committed to invest in all parts of its business, aiming at delivering an efficient, customer focused propaosition, with our
diverse business model being well positioned to manage fluctuations in the housing market. Within the estate agency operations we
focus continually on the service provided to customers through our high street presence. We are continuing to invest in digital products
and solutions, including the continued enhancement of customer communications and onling portal to support our branch operations in
winning and retaining business and achieving successful transaction cutcomes for customers.

Building upon the successes achieved through coordinated national campaigns, the Group continues to expand the use of digital and
social media advertising. These activities are centrally managed and fully tracked via our lead management platform. This approach
provides flexibility, allowing us to adapt quickly during changing market conditions.

The Group made a further four small business acquisitions during the year, each of which will complement and add to the Group's
proposition, Further details are set out in note 24.

The Group ended 2022 with the salas pipeline below the prior year. Market conditions softened following the mini budget in September
and 2023 is therefore likely to begin the year slower than 2022. However we have started to see some positive signs following the
November Autumn Statement, and gctivity levels in a number of areas have improved recently; and we remain cautiously optimistic for
the market in 2023. Whatever the market, the Group has the management expertise, coupled with good levels of liquidity to take
advantage of whatever conditions present.

Climate-Related Financial Disciosures

These disclosures are consistent with the Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures {TGFD) recommendations, subject to
further steps being taken. Work to model the impact of climate related scenarios (including a 2°¢ or lewer scenario} on our business
strategy will be completed during 2023. During 2023 the Group wil also agree an emission reduction plan and net zero strategy.

Governance

The Audit & Risk Commitiee supports the Board in managing all risks, including climate-related risks. The Audit & Risk Committee
meets guarterly to review top risks, and an annual review of risks and uncertainties by the Audit & Risk Committee and the Board
includes assessing the impact of climate change on the Group.

Management responsibility for the identification and management of the financial risks from climate change is allocated to the Group
Finance Director. The Group Finance Director is supporied by the Group’s Environmental, Socia! and Governance (ESG} Committee.
The purpose of the ESG Committee is to set, approve and monitor progress against the Group’s ESG Strategy and to drive delivery of
our vision to build a better and more sustainable organisation.

Strategy

Our climate risk strategy is to mitigate our carbon foctprint and manage our climate risk exposures where possible, while helping our
customers transition towards a net zero carbon economy.

Climate change risk can be split into two broad themes: physical and transition risk. Physical risk arises from the impact of extreme
weather events (e.g. flooding) or fonger-term shifts in the climate. It is widely accepted that climate change will accelerate these risks.
Transition risk arises from the process of adjusting to a Yow carbon economy impacting (for example) financial asset values or policy
and regulation. These risks are considered over the short (<5 years), medium (5-10 years) and long (10+ years) term.

Two key climate-related risks the Group is exposed to are summarised below:

1. Anincreasing number of properties could be subject to physical flooding or subsidence {(over the medium and long term)
resulting in professional indemnity insurance claims against the Group's survey and valuation businesses and conveyancing
business; and

2.  There is a risk that the general strength of the UK economy, to which the UK housing market correlates closely, could be
adversely impacted by the transition to a lower carbon economy.

Whilst, following qualitative analysis, we do not expect climate related risks to have a material impact on the Group’s business, strategy
and financial planning; in 2023 we will be modelling the impact of climate related scenarios {including a 2°C or lower scenario) on our
corporate plans.
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Risk Management

The Group uses its existing risk management framework to identify, assess and manage climate-related risks. A Climate Change Risk
Framework exists, which outlines the structure, arrangements and processes for the management and control of rigks from climate
change. When assessing the relative significance of climate-related risks in relation to other risks, we have considered the financial
impact of the risks on the Group's income and costs, and operational resilience.

Metrics and Targets

The Group's lang term plan is to become a net zera carbon business, with a science based target to reduce our greenhouse gas
emissions. The remaining scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions which cannot be eliminated will be offset by a carbon neutral offsetting
programme. During 2023 the Group will agree an emission reduction plan and net zero strategy.

The Group uses metrics to monitor any increase in risks where climate-change is a root cause. These include menitoring any increase
in business interruptions caused by physical climate events, monitoring the value of pension scheme assets in case they are affected
by physical or transition risks, monitoring any increase in professional indemnity claims caused by physical climate change, and
gualitative assessments of whether Government poliCy or other initiatives will impact the Group.

Section 172 statement — The Board’s approach
Policies and Practices

The Board's objectives continue to be to maximise the long-term value and revenue streams for the Group's shareholders, to create
secure and rewarding employment for its people and to deliver a high quality service to its customers. The Board considers its
shareholders, customers and colleagues to be the Group's key stakehaolders.

The Connells Group aims to deliver sustainable and growing revenues from efficient operations supported by a lean management cost
structure, which enables the Group to adapt to market opportunities. Connells recognises that the housing market is cyclical and can
vary widely from one location to another. Across the Group, local entrepreneurship is actively encouraged and supported. This "grass
roots” awareness of customer service and profit management has been at the core of Connells’ success and is a key compenent to its
future strategy.

The Group aims to grow its operations through both new branch openings and via acquisitions. Where a good strategic fit exists, the
Group preactively explores the acquisition of smaller regional piayers, who are often market leaders in their locality.

Decision making

The Board meets regularly and makes decisions which promote the success of the Group and its stakeholders. Proposals are
discussed in detail, approved and documented by the Board which ensures key decisions are taken considering the Group's risk
management framework detailed below. Examples of key decisions taken during 2022 include:

. The longer term strategy was discussed and agreed, and the annual corporate plan was approved following a robust and
comprehensive review process. It was agreed the plan was an appropriate target for the Group to achieve an attractive
shareholder return.

*  As expiained in note 24, the Group acquired a further four small businesses during the year. The acquisitions support the
strategy of acquiring good businesses either in new locations or that enhance our presence in existing postcodes. The
acquisitions were made out of existing cash reserves.

. Approved interfm dividends — Meeting shareholder dividend expectations is a top priority to ensure the funds are able to
benefit the wider Skipton Group. The corporate plan indicates the dividend leve! to be sustainable and still allow the Connells
Group to invest in growth, and meet the needs of its pension scheme members.

Business relationships

The Group closely monitors all of its business relationships in order to allow it to provide its customers with excellent service across the
range of services offered. It assesses, oh an ongoing basis, the risks of adverse impact on its customers, people and the environment
in which the Group operates as a result of these relationships, or as a result of its policies.

Relationships with key suppliers are closely monitored to ensure services are being provided in line with the terms of documented
agreements. Performance of key suppliers, along with associated risks to the Group and the environment are regularly assessed with
options for improvement considered where available. Regular reviews of adherence to key policies, such as Modern Stavery, GDPR
and tax fraud, are undertaken.

Board members and Senior Managers are engaged when negotiating terms with key suppliers and will often attend strategic review
meetings to guide the future approach with that supplier.

The Group’s services are primarfly delivered through its high street branch network, with support from centralised customer service
teams who help ensure the defivery of positive customer outcomes. Customer interactions are underpinned by a range of proactive
communications and online tools which support and inform customers by providing them with timely updates, useful guides and
visibility of their transaction at each stage of the home buying, selling and renting journey.

The Group engages with its customers at key points during their transactions, through review platforms and customer care teams, to
measure and maintain the guality of its service delivery. The Group continues to support industry initiatives that seek to improve and
speed up the home buying process for the benefit of customers and other key stakeholder groups.
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Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

The Group Is committed to being a responsible business and seeks 1o deliver positive impacts for our people, the environment and the
communities we serve.

Environmental matters

The Board recognises that, as a responsible business, it has an obligation to operate in a manner that minimises our environmental
impact by reducing our carbon emissions and our consumption of resources. We will provide products and services to help our
customers improve the energy efficiency of their properties and reduce carbon emissions, whilst also building colleague awareness of
environmental impacls. We operate in a sector that has a relatively low carbon footprint, however we follow relevant environmental
legislation in carrying out our business; and Group policy is to seek to minimise our contribution to environmental damage and
maximise our contribution to safe recycling and reprocessing of waste materials.

The Group's Environmental, Social and Governance commitiee has a specific focus on reviewing where the Group’s COz footprint can
be reduced, and implementing measures to do so. During 2022, our John D Weod business transitioned to electric cars, and for the
rest of the Group only Ulira Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) are now offered to non-essential users. We also launched an ULEV car
leasing scheme which enables all colleagues to access a personal lease for a new electric or plug in hybrid car, This will reduce overall
COz emissions from colleagues using vehicles for business purposes. During 2023 we will agree an emissions reduction plan and net
zero strategy, survey alt Group properties and agree a plan to implement LED lighting across our estate where appropriate.

Social matters

The Group is committed to ensuring that our colleagues have a great place to work by engaging with them, supporting and developing
them in their careers and career aspirations, and by promoting inclusion and diversity in cur workforce. We also encourage colleagues
to engage in local community and charitable activities.

The Group seeks to attract great people and make sure they are highly engaged in an environment where they can perform to high
expectations and have the opportunity for a long, rewarding and fulfilling career. In order fo help achieve this, the Group seeks direct
feedback from its workforce on areas such as leadership, reward, trust, respect, well-being and communication. The Group carried out
an employee engagement survey in 2022 which benchmarked colleagues’ engagement and provided feedback for managers to
implement measures relevant to their teams.

The Board has established a Diversity and Inclusion group, aimed at ensuring that the Group continues to ensure that Connells
supports a diverse and inclusive workplace. During 2022 we initiated a Women in Leadership pilot which provides mentoring to develop
colleagues for leadership in the Group. In 2023 the Group will deliver the Women in Leadership Programme, establish diversity and
inclusion networks to cover gender, race, LGBTQI+ and wellbeing, deliver unconscious bias training for managers and leaders, and
launch a Great Place to Work action plan covering values, mission, leadership and culture.

The Group has a number of policies and practices in place to help ensure that the working environment encourages trust, respect,
recognition and good communication. These include, for example, structured career pathways, dignity at work, equal opportunities and
a well embedded fire, health, safety and welfare policy. Remuneration structures are designed to reward high performance. The
Group's modern slavery policy supports the objectives of the Modermn Slavery Act 2015, further details of which can be found on the
Group website. The Group continues to aperate with the safety of its celleagues and customers being a priority.

The Group is committed to ensuring that there are no instances of bribery or corruption throughout the business. Group policies exist,
drafted in line with best practice, to prohibit the offering, giving, solicitation or the acceptance of any bribe to or from any person or
company by any individual employee, agent or other person or body acting on behalf of the Group. The policies are readily available for
employees to view on the internal intranet and employees are required to receive annual refresher training to ensure they can
recognise and prevent the use of bribery.

The Group has a charity partnership with Mind UK, a leading mentat health charity which provides advice and support to empower
anyone experiencing mental health problems. This is a cause that resonates well with colleagues and the Group provides support
through a range of fundraising activities and campaigns across the network. The Group commitied to raising over £20,000 over two
years as parl of its corporate partnership, and raised over £70,000 in its first year alone. The business has also joined forces with
Pennies from Heaven to help raise further funds for Mind. Pernies from Heaven is the UK's largest workplace micro giving scheme,
taking the spare change from payslips each month and sending them directly to the charity. During 2022 the Group also donated
£500,000 to support the victims of the conflict in Ukraine.

The Group alse participates in supporting national charitable events such as Comic Relief, Children in Need, Jeans for Genes, Wear it
Pink and Macmillan Coffee Morning, and on a loca! level, head offices based in Leighton Buzzard work with various partners on local
community initiatives. A number of subsidiaries also have their own charity parinerships and conduct their own local and community
fundraising. Many colleagues across the Group actively participate in fundraising for local or chosen charities and we applaud this.

Governance

The Group is committed to having appropriate governance arrangements and complying with regulatory and legal requirements. Group
policies are reviewed and monitored regularly to ensure they remain appropriate and fit for purpose.

The Board is responsible for determining the Group's strategy for managing risk and overseeing its systems of internal control. The
ongoing effectiveness of these internal controls is reviewed by the Board's Audit & Risk Committee on a regular basis. The Group
maintaing appropriate standards of corporate governance in order to conduct its business in a prudent and well organised manner. The
Board's approach is based on the principles and provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code) published by the
Financial Reporting Council. The Board's philosophy is to comply with the Code where it applies to the Group, and its compliance is
reviewed annually.
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Risks and uncertainties

The Group recognises that successfully managing its risks is essential to support its activities. The Board has overall responsibility for
the systems of internal control and risk management and, through the Audit and Risk Committee, regularly assesses the management
of key risks facing the business. The Group operates a risk management framework which establishes principles to support the
effective management of risks. The Group's risk appetite is documented in risk appetite statements, which are reviewed and approved
annually by the Audit and Risk Commiltee, before being recommended for approval to the Board. The Group operates a three lines of
defence model as follows:

* Management throughout the Group's businesses are primarily responsible for identifying, assessing, controlling, monitoring
and reporling risks and ensuring an appropriate risk management culture exists across their lines of responsibility.

« The Group's risk and compliance functions develop and oversee the risk management framework, set policy, provide
guidance and support to management and provide monitoring and oversight on behalf of the Board.

o Internal Audit, provided by the Skipton Group Internal Audit function, provides third line independent assurance on the
systems of risk and internal controls in place across the Group.

The principal risks facing the Group, together with how the Group seeks to mitigate these, are set out below:
Housing Market

The UK housing market is cyclical and its strength correlates closely with the general strength of the UK economy. Changes in house
prices and the volume of properties sold impact the results of the business. 2022 started well for the UK housing market, but the cost
of living crisis, higher interest rates and generally uncertain economic conditions impacted the market towards the end of the year.
However, the Board believes that the medium to long term outlook for the UK housing market remains positive, driven partially by the
ongoing imbalance between the demand for properties against the available supply and the availability of affordable mortgage finance.

The Board continues to review leading indicator KPIs and other macro-economic data regularly, in order to ensure that appropriate
action is taken to manage short term market uncertainties whilst ensuring that the Group, through its diversified business madel, is well
positioned to capitalise when market conditions change for the better. The Board, through regular stress testing, also ensures that the
Group maintains sufficient resources to withstand a severe downturn in the UK housing market.

Competitors

The Group operates in a number of markets where traditional operating models are often challenged, particularly in the digital/online
space. Failure 1o adapt and respond could lead to a fall in market share and, consequently, revenue.

The Group continues to monitor changing trends in its markets and, as noted above, will continue to invest in both its systems and
people so that it can address any relevant changes to customers' behaviour and expectations. The Group believes that its strengths lie
in providing customers with high quality face to face advice, across a range of services, from an extensive local High Street presence
and will continue to strengthen its proposition to ensure customers continue to receive excellent customer service.

Regulatory Compliance

The Group’s businesses operate across a number of regulatory environments, which change and evolve rapidly. Failure to comply with
current or future regulatory requirements could result in regulatory censure, fines or enforecement action which would impact on the
Group’s ability to carry out certain activities.

The business continually develops its focus on conduct risk, customer outcomes, and compliance within the regulated part of its
business to reflect industry best practice. During 2023 the Group will deliver an implementation plan to ensure it complies with new
FCA Consumer Duty requirements. The Group provides extensive training to and supervision of its operational teams, supported by
centralised compliance and risk teams which closely monitor existing business activities and assess propesed new developments. A
robust complaints handling process exists, with root cause analysis being fed back into operational activities.

IT Infrastructure and information securify

The Group depends on efficient systems for its day to day operations and maintenance of its financial records. A significant interruption
to its IT services, or breach of data security, would have an adverse impact on the ability to trade. The Group's systems could also be
subject to the increasing risk of a cyber-attack.

The Group continues to invest in its 1T and data security systems to ensure that its systems adequately support its expanding
operations and address the changing needs of the business. Regular penetration and business recovery testing is carried out. Training
is provided 1o all colleagues to advise them of good security procedures and data protection requirements.
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Group Strategic Report (continued)
Risks and uncertainties (continued)
Provisions for liabilities

The previous downtum in the UK housing market caused the Group to experience an increase in professional indemnity insurance
claims against it, particularly within its survey and valuation businesses, however current incidence of new claims remains low.

Robust training, supervision and quality assurance processes exist aimed at reducing the likely incidence of such claims in the future.
Current outstanding claims continue to be well managed by an experienced team and the Group carries an appropriate level of
Professional Indemnity Insurance cover.

Details of the provision for professional indemnity insurance liabilities, other provisions and contingent liabilities are set out in note 20 to
the financial statements.

Loss of a major client

Several of the Group's businesses hold a number of important client relationships, the loss of which would adversely affect their income
and performance.

Each business carries out regular review meetings with clients at all levels of management; any issues should therefore be identified
and escalated at an early stage.

Financial misstatement and fraud

Material financial misstatement arising due to an error or fraud could cause reputational damage, financial loss or lead to inappropriate
decision making.

The Group's financial controls, including segregation of duties, are designed to operate throughout the business to address this risk.
These controls are supplemented by comprehensive monitoring of financial performance to budget and expectations at a cost centre
level.

Capital

In common with other businesses in the sector, the Group is relatively highly operationally geared. Trading performance is sensilive to
transaction volumes in the UK residential housing market. In the short term, certain costs are fixed so that when income falls there is 2
direct and adverse impact on profits and cash flows.

The Group's policy is to retain sufficient cash and capital resources to allow it to withstand market volatility and achieve its corporate
objectives.

People

Estate agency is very much a people business. As such, the Group is reliant on the ability, training, skills and motivation of its people.
A key risk to the business is the possibility of losing people, particularly senior managers who have extensive knowledge and
axperience.

In order to combat this, the Board ensures that service agreements, remuneration packages, and human resources policies are
constantly reviewed.

Customers
The Group is firmly committed to delivering good outcomes for all customers. This means ensuring that the range of products and
services offered meet the needs of customers, that the 'end to end’ processes for delivering these services are appropriate and

effective, and that our people have our customers' best interests at heart at all times. We take steps to develop and maintain this ethos
within the culture of the business overall.

7¢ A@ .
DC Livesey
Director

24 February 2023
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT, THE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the Directors have elected to prepare the group and the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK adopted
International Accounting Standards and as regards to the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with section
408 of the Companies Act 2006.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the profit or loss of the group and the company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements the directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies in accordance with I1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
and then apply them consistently;

. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information;

*  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient 10 enable users to
understand the impagct of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the group and company financial position and
financial performance;

- in respect of the group financial statements, state whether UK accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

*  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is appropriate to presume that the company and/ or the
group will not continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's and
group's transactions and disclose with reascnable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent company and enable them
to ensure that the company and the group financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the group and parent company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a strategic report and directors’ report, that
comply with that law and those regulations. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and
financial information included on the company’s website.

The directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge:

+ that the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with UK adopted International accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit of the parent company and undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whote;

* that the annual report, including the strategic report, includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business
and the position of the company and undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties thal they face; and

* that they consider the annual report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the company's position, performance, business model and strategy.

11
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CONNELLS LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Connells Limited (‘the parent company') and its subsidiaries (the 'group’} for the year
ended 31 December 2022 which comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group
Statement of Financial Position, the Company Statement of Financial Pesition, the Group and Gompany Statements of Changes in
Equity and the Group Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 28, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted International Accounting
Standards and as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act
2006.

In our opinion:

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s and of the parent cempany's affairs as at 31 Dgcember 2022 and
of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

. the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards;

. the parent company financial statements have been properly preparad in accordance with UK adopted International Accounting
Standards as applied in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006; and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 1o our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to other entities of public interest, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical respensibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group and parent company’s
ability to continue to adopt the going concem basis of accounting included;

s In conjunction with our walkthrough of the Group's financial close process, we confirmed our understanding of management’s
Going Concern assessment process and also engaged with management early to ensure all key factors were considered in
their assessment.

. We obtained management's going concem assessment, including the cash forecasts for the going concern period to
December 2024. The Group has modelled adverse scenarios in their cash forecasts in order to incorporate unexpected
changes to the forecasted liquidity of the Group.

«  We considered the appropriateness of the methods used to calculate the cash forecasts and determined through inspection
and testing of the methodology and calculations that the methods utilised were appropriately sophisticated to be able to make
an assessment for the entity.

«  We considered the mitigating factors included in the cash forecasts that are within control of the Group. This includes review
of the Company’s non-operating cash outfiows, payments of dividends and evaluating the Company’s ability to control these
outflows as mitigating actions if required.

«  We have performed reverse stress testing in order to identify what factors would lead to the Group utilising all liquidity during
the going concem period,

s We read the Group's going concern disclosures included in the annual report in order to assess that the disclosures were
appropriate and in conformity with the reporting standards.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
period to December 2024,

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going cancemn are described in the relevant sections of this
report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s ability
to continue as a going concem.
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Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Gur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in deing se, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or cur knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

. the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

. the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or directars' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,

in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

. the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accoeunting records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Respensibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement 11, the directors are responsibie for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to
continue as a going concemn, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to geing concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have na realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objeclives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs {UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberale concealment by, for example, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those
charged with governance of the entity and management.
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Qur approach was as follows:

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the company and dsetermined that the
most significant are: The Eslates Agents Act 2019, The Consumer Rights Act 2015, The Consumers, Estate Agents and Redress
Act 2007 International Accounting Standards, Companies Act 2006, Data Protection Act 1998, Health and Safety at work Act
1974. HMRAC regulations, The Coronavirus Act 2020 Functions of Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme}, UK Bribery Act, Equality Act and Anti-Money Laundering Regulations.

We understood how Connells Limited is complying with those frameworks by making enquiries of those charged with governance
and management. We understood the incentive and ability to override controls. We considered management’s attitude and tone
from the top to embed a culture of honesty and ethical behaviour whereby strong emphasis is piaced on fraud prevention, which
may reduce opportunities for fraud to take place. We further understood the adeption of accounting standards and considered the
compiiance with the above laws.

We assessed the susceptlibility of the Group and Company's financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud
might occur by obtaining and reading internal policies, holding enguiries of management and those charged with governance and
the in house legal counse! as to the fraud risk framework within the Group.

Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulations. Our
procedures involved;
«  Enquiry of management and those charged with governance as to any fraud risk framework within the entity, including
whether a formal fraud risk assessment is completed.
o Enqguiry of management, those charged with governance and the entity's in-house legal team around actual and
potential litigation and claims,
= Enquiry of entity staff in tax and compliance functions to identify any instances of non-compliance with iaws and
regulations, including communications with regulators and tax authorities.
v Reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.
o PReading internal audit reports.
o Enquiry of management gver reports to whistieblowing hotlines.
. Reading #nancial statement disclosures and testing to supporting docurnemation to assess compliiance with applicable
laws and regulations.
o Auditing the risk of management override of controls; including through testing journal entries and other adjustments for
appropriateness.
o Ulilising data analytics to highlight potentially anomalous transactions in areas of the business which are determined to
have an elevated fraud risk.
o Evaluating the business rationate of significant trangactions outsige the narmal course of business, and;
o Challenging judgements made by management. This included corroborating the inputs and considering contradictory
evidence.
»  Where weaknesses in internal contral in respect of cash were identified we:
- increased the sample sizes in respect of our substantive audit testing,
. Performed additional testing with respect to completeness of balanges and cut-off testing for fransactions
ocourring around the year end, and
- Increased samples of risk based journals and material post-closing adjustments, agreeing them to
appropriate supporting evidencs.
o Where instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations were idenlified we assessed and challenged
management’s response, involving specialists, where required to consider the appropriateness of the response and the
conclusions reached.

A turther description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on tha
Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This dascription forms part of our auditor's
report.

Use ot our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accardance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required te state to them
in an auditar's repert and for no other purpese. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to

anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for pur audit work, for this repor, or for the opinions we have

i

Ruth Legan (Selr::r\‘jalutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Cambridge
24 February 2023
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Notes Year Year
ended ended
2022 2021
£000 £000
Revenue 3 1,021,153 999,460
Other operating income 6 12,852 3.077
Employee benefit expenses 7 (647,521) (597,914)
Other operating expenses 2 (315,903) (316,344)
Operating profit 70,581 88,279
Presented as:
Earnings before interest, tax, depreclation, 124,855 181,066
amortisation and impairment
Depreciation of tangible assets 2,10 (8,420) (8,562)
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 12 (32,337) (26,412)
Amortisation and impairment of intangibles 11 (25,286) (59,729)
Fair value changes in financial instruments held at FVTPL 14 11,769 1,816
Operating profit 70,581 88,279
Finance income 4 3,102 394
Finance costs 5 (7,274) (7,101)
Net financing costs 4,172) {6,707)
Group share of profit after tax in joint ventures 13 1,410 1,237
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (315) (662)
Profit on dispesal of Investments 24 - 2,256
Fair value gains on step acquisitions of Group 24 - 26,921
undertakings
Profit before tax 67,504 111,324
Taxation 8 (13,027) (16,496)
Profit for the year 54,477 94,828
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 54,659 94,716
Non-Centrolling Interests _(182) 112
54,477 94,828

The Group had no material discontinued operations in the current year or preceding year.

The notes on pages 21 to 65 form part of these financial statements.
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes
Year Year
ended ended
2022 2021
£000 £000
Profit for the year 54,477 94,828
Cther comprehensive (expenses)/ income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Actuarial (loss)/gain on retirement benefit obligations 23 (5,492) 11,541
Tax on actuarial (I0ss)/ gain on retirement benefit obligations
- deferred tax {charge) 15 {702} (2,356)
- current tax credit/(charge) 1,804 1,445
Exchange differences arising on retranslation of foreign - 9
operations
Other comprehensive (expense)/ income for the year (net of income tax) {4,390} 10,639
Total comprehensive income for the year 50,087 105,467
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 50,269 105,355
Non-Controlling Interests (182) 112
50,087 105,467

The notes on pages 21 to 65 form part of these financial statements.
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Group Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2022

31 December 2022

£000
Notes

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 32,503
Intangible assets 11 268,269
Right-of-use assets 12 92,268
Investments 13 10,136
Financial assets 14 5,442
Tax Assets 5,625
Deferred tax assets 15 9,137
Retirement benefit asset 23 -
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Financial assets 14 22,500
Trade and other receivables 16 94,095
Cash and cash equivalents 17 106,951
Total current assets
Total assels
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 144,555
Tax liabilities -
Provisions 20 22,538
Lease liabilities 19 27,609
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 124,854
Provisions 20 11,273
Retirement benefit obligation 23 12,653
Lease liabilities 18 70,498
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabillties
Equity - attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 21 1
Share premium 21 25,988
Capital redemption reserve 21 3,000
Translation reserve 21 9
Retained earnings 21 203,798
Non-controlling Interest 21 150
Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

£000

423,380

223,546

646,926

194,702

219,278

413,980

232,946

646,926

31 December 2021

£000

32,829
290,509
80,161
9,476
12,775

14,796

1,244

105,653

119,057

168,362
344
21,488

23,607

133,082
13,880
12,973

74,905

1
25,988
3,000

9
188,529
332

These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

7 ¢ Sy

DC Livesey
Director

Company registration number: 03187394

The notes on pages 21 to 65 form part of these accounts.
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Company Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2022

Notes
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10
Intangibie assets 11
Right-of-use assets 12
Investments 13
Financial assets 14
Deferred tax assets 15
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Financial assets 14
Trade and other receivables 16
Cash and cash equivalents 17
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18
Provisions 20
Lease liabilities 19
Tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18
Provisions 20
Leasge liabilities 19
Retirement benefit obligation 23

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity — atiributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 21
Share premium 21
Capital redemption reserve 21
Retained earnings 21
Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

31 December 2022
£000 £000

6,204

2,441

9,559

255,514

5,341

6,231
285,290

22,500
45,396
46,197
114,093

399,383

90,262
1,656
1,404
391
83,713

115,683

1,057

507

11,062
128,309

222,022

1

25,988

3,000

148,372
177,361

399,383

31 December 2022

31 December 2021

£000 £000
6,384
3,779
166
257,143
12,554
6,875
286,901
46,758
72,327
118,085
405,986
81,963
1,684
63
1,899
85,609
129,773
S41
118
12,973
143,806
229,415
1
25,988
3,000
147,582
176,571
405,986

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under section 408 of the Companies Act (2006) and has not presented
its own income statement in these financial statements. The total comprehensive income for the year was £35,790,000 (2021:

£97,499,000).

These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

2c Ltj )
DC Livesey
Director

Company registration number: 03187394

The notes on pages 21 to 65 form part of these accounts.

18



Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2022

Statements of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Group
Capital Non-
Share Share redemption Retained Controlling Translati Total
capital premium reserve earnings Interest on equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 Reserve £000
£000
Balance at 1 January 2022 1 25,968 3,000 188,529 332 9 217,859
Total comprehensive income for - - - 50,269 (182} - 50,087
the year
Dividends to shareholders - - - (35,000) - - (35,000)
Balance at 31 December 2022 1 25,988 3,000 203,798 150 9 232,946
Capital
Share Share redemption Retained Non- Translati Total
capital premium reserve earnings Controlling an equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 Interest Reserve £000
£000 £000
Balance at + January 2021 1 25,988 3,000 143,648 - - 172,635
Total comprehensive income for - - - 105,346 112 g 105,467
the year
Acquisition of non-controling
interest without a change in (483} (463)
control
Dividends to shareholders - - - (60,000} - - (60,000)
Undertakings with less than
100% Control
220 220
Balance at 31 December 2021 1 25,988 3,000 158,529 332 9 211,859
Company
Capital
Share Share redemption Retained Total
capial premium reserve earnings equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2022 1 25,988 3,000 147,582 176,671
Total comprehensive income for the . - - 35,790 35,790
year
Dividends to sharehalders - - - (35.000) {35,000)
Balance at 31 December 2022 1 25,988 3,000 148,372 177,361
Capital
Share Share redemption Retained Total
capital premium reserve earnings equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2021 1 25,988 3,000 110,155 139,144
Tolal comprehensive income far the . - - 97,427 97,427
year
Dividends to shareholders - - - (60,000) (60,000)
Balance at 31 December 2021 1 25,988 3,000 147,582 176,571

The nates on pages 21 to 65 form part of these accounts.
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Group Statement of Cash Flows

Note Year Year
Cash flows from operating activities ended ended
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Profit for the year 54,477 94,828
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and impairment of tangible assets 10 8,420 8,562
Depreciation and impairment of right of use assets 12 32,337 26,412
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 2,11 25,286 59,729
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 (322} {445)
Finance income 4 {3,102) {394)
Share of profit of joint ventures 13 {1,410} {1,237}
Finance expense 5 7,274 7,101
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 315 662
Tax expense 8 13,027 16,496
Fair value changes in financial instruments held at FYTPL 6 (11,769) (1,916}
Fair value gains on step acquisitions of Group undertakings 24 - {26,921)
Profit on disposal of equity investments 24 - (2,256)
Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 124,533 180,621
Contributions to defined benefit pension schemes 23 {4.917) (24,880}
Decrease in trade receivables 8,111 12,123
Decrease in prepayments and other receivables 3,447 10,829
Decrease in trade and other payables (22,834) (6,122}
Decrease in provisions {1,557) (1,849)
Cash inflow from operations 106,783 170,722
Tax paid (12,310) (19,498}
Net cash Inflow from operating activities 94,473 151,224
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 2,996 394
Interest paid (5,188) (4,832)
Dividends received from joint ventures 13 750 2,139
Purchases of shares in subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 24 (3,254) (122,720)
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries - 58,698
Proceeds on sale of investments 20 8,175
Purchases of shares in assets held at FVTPL 6 - (448)
Purchases of business assets, net of cash acquired 24 (732) {205}
Purchases of computer software 11 4,353) {4,055)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 10 (8,430) (7,541)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 658 1,209
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (17,533) (69,186)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (49,018) (40,372)
Dividends paid to parent undertaking 9 (35,000} (60,000}
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (315) (662)
Loan advanced by uitimate parent undertaking - 253,000
External term and revolving facility loans repaid (825} (93,000)
Loan repayments to ultimate parent undertaking {3,888) (125,000}
Net cash {outflow) from financing activities (89,046) {66,034)
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents {12,106) 16,004
119,057 103,053
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 106,951 119,057

The notes on pages 21 to 65 form part of these accounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting policies

Connells Limited (the “Company”} is a Company incorporated, registered and domiciled in the UK. The following accounting policies
have been applied consistently in these Group and Company financial statements:

a) Basis of accounting

Both the Company and the Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with UK
adopted International Accounting Standards and as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with
section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and effective as at 31 December 2022. In publishing the Parent Company financial statements
here, together with the Group financial statements, the Company is taking advantage of the exemption in section 408 of the Companies
Act 2006 not to present its individual Income Statement and Statement of Cash Flows and related notes that form a part of these
approved financial statements. The amount of the profit for the year dealt with in the financial statements of Connells Limited is
disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity in these financial statements.

Adoption of new and revised UK Financial Reporting Standards

The Company adopted during the year the following amendment to existing accounting standards, which did not have a material impact
on these financial statements:

Cnerous contracts —Costs of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intendad Use (Amendments to |AS 16)
Reference to the Conceptual framework (Amendments to IFRS 3); and

Fees in the '10 per cent test’ for derecognition of financial liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 9)

Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new and amended accounting standards and interpretations will be effective for future reporting periods, none of which
has been early adopted by the Company in preparing these financial statements. These new and amended standards and
interpretations, details of which are set out below, are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective from 1 January 2023) ;

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to 1AS 1, effective from 1 January 2024)

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8, effective from 1 January 2023);

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to 1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, effective from 1 January 2023}

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to 1AS 12, effective from 1
January 2023); and

« [ease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16, effective from 1 January 2024)

Measurement convention

These financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis as modified for certain financial assets which are recorded at fair
value. Judgements made by the Directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year, are discussed in section 1g).

Currency presentation

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and, except where otherwise indicated, have been rounded to the nearest
one thousand pounds. The functional currency is pounds sterling.

Going concern
The Directors have undertaken a thorough assessment of the Group’s financial forecasts to 31 December 2024.

During 2021 the Group took out a £253.0m lcan from Skipton Building Society, its ultimate parent undertaking, repayable over 20
years, in order to fund the acquisition of Countrywide plc {“Countrywide™), settle the existing debt within Countrywide and enable
investment and working capital for the Group. The Group has already repaid a significant portion of this loan, and the cutstanding
liability at the year end is £124.5m (2021: £128.2m). There are no covenants attached to the loan.

The Group is also funded by its operating profits and the cash thereby generated. For the year ended 31 December 2022 the Group
reported a net profit before tax of £67.5m (2021: £111.3m) and at 31 December 2022 had a cash balance of £107.0m (2021: £119.1m),
after paying dividends totaling £35.0m (2021: £60.0m) to its shareholder. At the date of signing these accounts, the Group continues to
hold a cash balance of £135.4m (2021: £97.7m}.

The Directors have also performed extensive stress testing to model potential market shocks, and the related impact on business
volumes, which include mitigating actions including reducing headcount, capital and other discretionary spend. In particular the
Directors have considered and modelled a number of severe but plausible scenarios, including the impact of a material downturn in the
UK housing market caused by political and economic circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)
a) Basis of accounting (continued)
Going concern (continued)

The key assumptions used in this severe stress scenario are as follows:
- UK housing market transactions fall to the levels seen in the 2008 financial crisis, the lowest on record, a decline of over 30%
on the base scenario. This would have a proportionate impact on most revenue streams as volumes decline.
- House price deflation of 30%.
- Mitigating actions to reduce headcount, capital expenditure and marketing spend.
- No government support has been assumed to be available, but any support available would likely be utilised and improve the
liquidity position further.

The results from such stress testing indicate that the Group would be able to withstand the financial impact. The Group's financial
strength means that it is well positioned to withstand such a downturn.

A reverse stress test has also been performed, which required a significantly deeper and prolonged downturn for the Group to exceed
available funds, which the Directors consider 1o be remote. Were this unlikely situation to occur then there are further actions available
and within the control of management to reduce costs and manage liquidity.

As a result of the above and following careful consideration, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the annual financial statements.

Put options

As part of the Group’s acquisition strategy. there are a number of subsidiaries where the Group owns less than 100% of the share
capital where there exists options for Non-controlling shareholders to sell their shares to the Company at some future date. In line with
IAS 32 Financial instrumemnts: Disciosure and Presentation and common accounting practice, the Group’s accounting policy for these
transactions is 1o recognise the present value of Non-controlling shareholders’ options as a financial obligation, along with the
recognition of a further increase in the cost of investment. Under this accounting policy the Group consolidates 100% of the results of
such subsidiaries to reflect the 100% ownership implicit in the recording of the future purchase of the Non-controlling interests’
remaining shareholdings.

b) Basis of consolidation

The Group's annual financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary undertakings and
include the Group’s share of the results and post-acquisition reserves of its subsidiary undertakings. All Group undertakings prepare
their financial statements to 31 December annually.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting has been adopted. Under this method, the results of subsidiary undertakings acquired or
disposed of during the period are included in the Group Income Statement from the date of acquisition or up fo the date of disposal.

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any
goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are
generally recognised in profit or loss. Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation
to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument Is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured and
settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is re-measured at fair value at each reporting date
and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

In Instances where the Group holds a small shareholding initially, an acquisition may be achieved in stages, a ‘step acquisition’. On the
date at which control is obtained, the fair value of the Group's existing interest in the entity is assessed against its carrying value, with
the resulting gain or loss being recognised in the Income Statement. The results after control has been achieved are accounted for
under the acquisition method of accounting.

Subsidiaries and joint ventures
In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less provision for any permanent

diminution in value. Dividends received and receivable are credited to the Company’s Income Statement to the extent they represent a
realised profit for the Comparny.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries and joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is an undertaking in which the Group has a long term interest and over which it exercises joint control and has an
interest in the net assets of the undertaking. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are initially recognised at
cost. The Group's share of the profits of joint ventures Is included in the Group Income Statement and its interest in the net assets is
included in investments in the Group Statement of Financial Position. See note 13 for further details.

Non-Controlling Interest

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group's equity therein, Those interests of non-controlling
shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may
initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition pltus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related non-
controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.

¢) Revenue recognition

Revenue, which excludes value added tax, represents the total invoiced sales of the Group and is recognised as follows:

. Estate Agency sales commissions, new homes, conveyancing, land sales and auctions income is recognised on the date
contracts are exchanged unconditionally, at which point all performance obligations are considered to have been fulfilled. Invoices
are usually payable on completion.

+  Commission earned from property letlings is recognised when the underlying service has been performed, including tenant
introduction, rent collection or full property management. Invoices are usually payable immediately when the rent or fee is
collected from the tenant. An element of Lettings income has been assessed as transferred aver time, in line with the performance
obligation in the contract. The amount recognised up front is based on the average standalone selling price.

. Revenue from mortgage procuration fees is recognised on completion of the mortgage transaction, which is when all contractual
obligations have been fulfilled. An element of morigage services income has been assessed as transferred over time, in line with
the performance obligations in the contract.

. Insurance commission income is recognised upon fulfitment of contractual obligations as part of the mortgage process, being
when the insurance policy is put on risk; fess a provision for expected future clawback repayment in the event of early termination
by the customer.

. Survey & Valuation revenue is recognised on the date that the survey or valuation report is completed, at which point alt
performance obligations are considered to have completed. Revenue and costs are recognised gross of sub-contracted panel
fees.

. Asset management commission earned is accounted for on exchange of contracts and additional services are recognised upen
completion of work, recognised on a cost basis within contract assets; both of which are at the point all performance obligations
are considered to have completed.

*  All other income is recognised in line with when contractual obligations have been met.

. Commissions earned on sales of commercial property are recognised at a point in time, upon the exchange of contracts for such
sales.

. Revenue in respect of commercial consultancy services is recognised either: at a point in time when we have fully provided the
service; or over a period of time as activity progresses, reflecting the Group’s partial performance of its contractual obligations.

d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the Statement of Financial Position at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depregciation is
charged so as to write off the cost of assets less their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives at the following rates:

Leasehold premises - Over the unexpired term of the lease in equal instaiments
Freehold buildings - Lower of 50 years or estimated useful life of premises
Equipment, fixtures and fittings - 3to 10 years

Motor vehicles - 25% of net book value

All depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis, except motor vehicles, where the reducing balance method is used. Depreciation
methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

e) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings or businesses represents the excess of the fair value of consideration
over the fair value of identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition. A full assessment is performed
1o align the accounting policies and fair value all the assets and liabilities, including valuing the intangible assets such as brands,
customer lists and sales pipelines. Goodwill is calculated after also taking into account the fair value of contingent liabilities of the
acquiree. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and included in other operating expenses.

Where the Group acquires a majority shareholding in a subsidiary, but grants the non-controliing interests an option to sell their shares
to the Group at some future date, on acquisition the Group estimates the fair value of the total consideration payable in calculating the
goodwill arising. In subsequent periods, for any put options written prior to the adoption of IFRS 3 {2008}, any amendment to the
Group's estimation of the fair value of the consideration remaining payable will result in a restatement in the goodwill. For any put
options written after the adoption of IFRS 3 (2008), any amendments to the estimation of the fair value of the consideration payable are
recorded in profitloss. The put options in place and freatment of any changes in the value of the option are as foliows as at 31
December 2022:

Company Accounting for changes in the value of the put option
The Asset Management Group Limited (AMG) Adjusted to goodwill

Gascoigne Halman Group Limited Recorded in the income statement

RMS Estate Agents Limited Recorded in the income statement

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the Income Statement.

f) Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired customer contracts and relationships, brands, software development costs and purchased software
that in the opinion of the directors meets the definition of an intangible asset. Amortisation is charged to the Income Statement on a
straight-ine basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. Intangible assets are amortised from the day they are available
for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Customer contracts ang relationships - 1to 10 years
Computer software - 3to 5 years
Brand - Indefinite

Finite life intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

g} [Impairment

In accordance with IAS 38, Impairment of Assets, goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life are not amortised but are tested
for impairment at each year end or when there is an indication of impairment. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of
its fair value less costs to selfl and its value in use.

The Group applies discount rates based on its weighted average cost of capital, which is adjusted to take account of the market risks
associated with each cash generating unit. Jmpairment is recognised where the present value of future cash flows of the subsidiary is
less than its carrying value. Impairment losses are recognised in prefit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the unit {group of units) on a pro rata basis.

Any impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. On the sale of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on sale is calculated after
charging or crediting the net book value of any related goodwill.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)
h) Non-derivative financlal instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade
and other payables.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their nominal amount, discounted if material, less impairment losses.

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs). The Group takes a simplified approach and recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group uses a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and economic environment. This is applied to third party and
intercompany receivables and cash balances.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their fair value on initial recognition and then subsequently carried at amortised cost.
Financial assets

Investments in equity securities held by the Company are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Any resultant gain or loss is
recognised in the ingome statement in line with IFRS 9. Where the fair value cannot be reliably measured the investments are carried
at cost less impairment.

Investments - Company

Investments in jointly controlled entities and subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment. The cost of investment arising on the
acquisition of subsidiary undertakings or businesses comprises the consideration paid and the fair value of the put option obligation to
acquirg any non-controlling interest, when such an option exists. Subsequent re-estimates of the market value or the expected exercise
date of the option are carried out by management. This results in an annual revaluation of the put option element of the cost of
investment (see note 13). The Company regularly reviews its subsidiary investments for objective evidence of impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash comprises cash in hand and loans and balances with banks and similar
institutions. Cash and cash equivalents comprise highly liquid investments which are convertible into cash with an insignificant risk of
changes in value with original maturities of three months or less. The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared using the indirect
method.

i} Employee benefits

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group has two defined benefit
schemes, the Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme and the Countrywide plc Pension Scheme, both of which are closed to future
benefit accrual.

The Group's net obligation in respect of the Schemes is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted 1o determine its present value, and the fair
value of any plan assets {(at bid price) and any unrecognised past service costs are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the
reporting date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the currency of, and having maturity dates approximating to, the terms of the
Group's obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected urit credit method.

An asset can be recognised as in the event of a plan wind-up, the pension scheme rules provide the Group with an unconditiona) right
to a refund of surplus assets assuming a full settlement of plan ligbilities. In the ordinary course of business, the Trustees have ro
rights to wind-up, or change, the benefits due to the members of the scheme. As a resuit, any net surplus in the UK defined benefit
scheme is recognised in full.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net delined benefit assel/liability. Contributions are transterred to the
Trustee on a regular basis to secure the benefits provided under the rules of the Schemes. The Group recognises all actuarial gains
and losses directly inte equity through the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period they occur.

Defined contribution plans
The Group also operates a number of defined contribution pension plans. A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit
plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay

further amounts. Contributions are charged to the Income Statement as they become payable, in accordance with the rules of the
various schemes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continvea)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

i) Employee Benefits (continued)

Short term benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and expensed as the related service is provided. A
lrability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus or profit sharing plans if the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

i} Leases

The Group’s lease commitments relate mainly to properties, office equipment and motor vehicles. Leases are typically negotiated on an
individual basis and thus contain a wide range of terms and conditions, incluging options to extend or terminate. The lease liability is
considered to be an indicator of the future cash outflows, there are no significant restrictions or covenants, residual value guarantees or
sale and leaseback transactions. Previously, payments made under operating leases were charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. The Group initially recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-
measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets is equal to the aggregate lease liabilities recognised on day 1, adjusted
for any initial direct costs incurred, any lease incentives received and any lease payments made at or before the commencement date.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the lease term. Right of use assets are tested for impairment at each
year end.

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of the lease payments to
be made over the lease term, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate. The lease payments include fixed payments less any
lease incentives received and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. In calculating the present value of the
lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date as the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. Following recognition, the liability is reduced for the lease payments made and increased by the
interest accrued. Moreover, the carrying amount of the lease liability is re-measured in the event of a medification, such as a change in
the lease term or change in the lease payments. The interest cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining liability for each period.

The Group applies the short-term lease exemption to those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and also applies the exemption for leases of low value assets to office equipment. Lease payments relating to
these exemptions are recognised in operaling expenses on a straight line basis over the lease term, These exemptions are not applied
to property leases and any short term propertly leases are accounted for as above.

k) Provisions for liabilities and charges

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a
resuit of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic bengfits will be required to settle the abligation and the amount can
be reliably measured, If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

I) Taxation

Income tax on the profits for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the Income Statement
except where items are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case the associated income tax asset or liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the year
end, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. It is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the periods in which temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on
the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. {f the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

) Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each year end and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit wil! be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each year end and are recognised to the extent that it has become prabable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

m) Net financing costs

Interest income and interest payable are recognised in the Income Statement as they accrue, using the effective interest method.

n) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the Group's right to receive payment is established.

o) Joint arrangements

Al of the group's joint asrangements are structured through separate vehicles. The group has considered in each arrangement whether
there are contractual arrangements or other facts and circumstances that indicate the group has rights to the underlying assets and
obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement. There are no contractual terms or other facts and circumstances that indicate this
to be the case for each joint arrangement. As such, each joint arrangement has been treated as a joint venture and has been equity
accounted.

p) Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached conditions will
be complied with. When the grant relates to0 an expense item, it is recognised as income against the related cast, on a systematic
basis over the periods the cost is incurred. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the
expected useful life of the related asset.

q) Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
The Group also has to make judgements in applying its accounting policies which affect the amounts recognised in the financial
statements. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The key estimates, assumptions and
judgements are set out below:

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operaies two defined benefit schemes (closed 1o new members) providing pensions based on final pensionable pay. The
contributions are determined by qualified actuaries based on triennial valuations using the projected unit credit method.

The Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme is accounted for within Connells Limited. Tha Countrywide plc Pension Scheme was
consolidated into the Conneils Group on acquisition of Countrywide Plc in March 2021 and is accounted for within Countrywide Group
Limited.

These defined benefit pension schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, mortality risk and
longevity risk. In conjunction with its actuaries the Group makes key financial assumptions which are used in the actuarial valuation of
the defined pension benefit obligation and, therefore, changes to these assumptions have an impact on the defined benefit pension
obligation in the Statement of Financial Position and amounts reported in the Income Statement. These assumptions include inflation
and discount rates, life expectancy, commutation allowances and the rate of salary growth; see note 23 for further details on these
assumptions.

A decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in inflation or an increase in life expectancy would result in an increase to Scheme liabilities.
This would impact the Statement of Financial Position adversely and may give rise to increased charges in future years’ Income
Statements. This effect would be partiaily offset by an increase in the value of the Scheme’s bond heldings and caps on inflationary
increases also exist to protect the scheme against high levels of inflation,

Put option obligation
The fair value of both the put option obligation and the associated goodwill recognised is dependent on the following assumptions: the

market value growth of the obligation and the discount rate used at the reporting date. It is assumed that the holders will exercise their
options at the earliest opportunity. These assumplions are reviewed on a regular basis by senior management.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

q) Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

Approximate sensitiviies of the principal assumptions are set out for both schemes in the tables below, showing the increase or
reduction in the pension obligation. Each sensitivity considers one change in isolation.

Assumption Change in assumption 2022 2021

Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme

Discount Rate Decrease of 0.25% p.a. Increase by 3.2% Increase by 4.3%
Rate of inflation Increase 0.25% p.a. Increase by 1.4% Increase by 2.1%
Rate of mortality Increase in life expectancy of 1 year Increase by 2.7% Increase by 3.8%

Countrywide Plc Pension Scheme

Discount Rate Decrease of 0.25% p.a. Increase by 2.5% Increase by 3.1%
Rate of inflation Increase 0.25% p.a. Increase by 0.2% Increase by 0.2%
Rate of mortality Increase in life expectancy of 1 year Increase by 6.4% Increase by 6.5%

For the Connells (2014) Group Pension Scheme; the average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the period ending 31
December 2022 was 17 years (2021: 18 years).

For the Countrywide Plc Pension Scheme; the average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the period ending 3t December
2022 was 11 years (2021: 12 years).

Impairment of investments and goodwill

In determining whether an impairment loss should be recognised in the Income Statement, management compare the future cash flows
of each subsidiary against its carrying value. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the cash flows,
discount rates and growth rates. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts on the assumption that the subsidiaries are held for long-term
investment. The cash flows are derived from the most recent financial budgets for the next five years, which take into account the risks
inherent in the businesses. For all CGU’'s the cash flows are extrapolated for subsequent years based on long-term growth rate of
2.5% {2021: 2.5%). The Group estimates discount rates based on the current cost of capital adjusted for the risks inherent in its
subsidiaries. The pre-tax discount rate used in 2022 was 17.63% (2021: 13.59%). Refer to note 11 for sensitivities.

Provisions

Provisions are made for professional indemnity claims and potential ¢laims that arise during the normal course of business in relation to
surveys and valuations performed by the Group. Where a formal letter of claim has been received a provision is made on a case by
case basis, taking into account the strength of the Group's case, and its history of successfully defending claims. Where initial
notification of claims has been received, an estimate is made of the proportion of these expected to lead to a formal claim based upon
historical trends. Finally, provision is alsc made for the estimated level of claims incurred but not yet reported at the reporting date
(IBNR), taking into account market conditions and a prudent attitude to risk.

The provision for insurance commission clawback is estimated using anticipated cancellation rates of term insurance policies. This
provision is based on the clawback period from the sign up date of the term insurance policy. The cancellation rates used in calculating
the provision are revisited every gquarter.

The dilapidation provision is accrued on the basis of amounts identified at the date of property acquisition, less any subsequent
expenditure, or where a section 412 notice or schedule of dilapidations has been received from the landlord. Provision is made for
properties with non-cancellable leases where the Group no longer occupies the property. The provision represents the rent to the end
of the lease, less any rental income from subletting the properties. The provision for the costs of closed branches is expected to
reverse over the remaining life of the leases, or period 10 the anticipated date of disposal, if sooner

Acquisitions

Key judgements are required in respect of acquisitions by the Group, in particular in valuing the intangible assets. These judgements
are outlined further in note 24.

IFRS 16

The changes to critical estimates and assumplions used by the Group as a result of adopting IFRS 186, that have an effect on the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, are outiined below.

Lease term

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to
extend the lease where this is regsonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease where this
is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)

q) Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

Many of the Group’s leases, particular properiy leases, contain options for the Group to extend and / or terminate the lease term. The
Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise these oplions, taking account of all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to do so. After the lease commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there has
been a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and which affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise}
the option to renew and / or to terminate (e.g. a change in business strategy)

2, Expenses and Auditor’s remuneration

Group Group

Profit before tax is stated after charging / {crediting) the following: Year Year

ended ended

Notes 2022 2021

£000 £000

Depreciation of praperty, plant and equipment 10 8,420 8,562

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (322) {445}

Amortisation and impairment of intangibles 11 25,286 59,729

Impairment losses on trade receivables 269 1,048

Short term lease payments charged to operating expenses 13 501

Business rates relief - (4,828)
Auditor's remuneration and expenses

Audit of these financial statements — Group 1,631 1,417

Audit of these financial statements — Company 545 637

3. Revenue

All revenue in the Group is considered to originate from contracts with customers. The table below disaggregates the revenue from
contracts with customers into the significant service lines. All revenues are derived by the Group in the UK.

Products and Products
2022 services and
transferred at services
a point in transferred Total
time over time 2022
£000 £000 £000
Commissions earned on property sales 329,127 - 329,127
Commissions earned on property lettings 97,739 113,089 210,838
Income from sale of financial services products 152,110 19,340 171,450
Survey and valuation income 135,417 - 135,417
Conveyancing income 60,203 - 60,203
Commergia) income 43,925 43,427 87,352
Other income and commissions 22,077 4,689 26,766
840,598 180,555 1,021,153
2021 Products and Products
services and
transferred at services
a point in transferred Total
time over time 2021
£000 £000 £000
Commissions eamed on property sales 360,629 125 360,754
Commissions earned on property lettings 183,009 - 183,009
Income from sale of financial services products 152,179 13,029 165,208
Survey and valuation income 132,004 - 132,004
Conveyancing income 65,312 - 65,312
Commercial income 44,420 34,900 79,320
Other income and commissions 13,323 530 13,853
950,876 48,584 999,460

An element of commissions earned on property lettings has been assessed as transferred over time, in line with the
performance obligation in the contract.
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4. Finance income Group Group
—Year— -—  Year-

ended ended

2022 2021

£000 £000

Interest on bank deposits 1,774 258
Interest receivable from Group undertakings 1,244 136
Other interest receivable 84 N
3,102 394

5. Finance costs Group Group
Year Year

ended ended

2022 2021

£000 £000

Net interest payable on pension liabilities (see note 23) 207 491
Movement on put option liability interest 38 81
Interest on lease liabilities 1,658 1,473
Interest payable to Parent undertaking 5,242 5,056
Other Interest payable 129 -
7,274 7,101

6. Other operating income Group Group
Year Year

ended ended

2022 2021

£000 £000

Rents receivable under property leases 761 716
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment a2z 445
Fair value changes in financial instruments held at FYTPL (notes14 and 18) 11,769 1,916
12,852 3,077

7. Statf numbers and costs

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year was as follows:

Group Group
2022 2021
No. No.
Directors 9 8
Qther 15,219 13,726
15,228 13,734

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons was as follows:
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 566,237 525,788
Social security costs 63,225 56,877
Other pension costs 18,059 15,249
647,521 597,914
Group Group
Year Year
ended ended
Directors’ emoluments 2022 2021
£000 £000
Directors’ emoluments 5,551 8,719
Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 9 -
5,560 8,719

Two of the Directors are remunerated by another Group undertaking (2021: two). During the year £66,000 (2021: £63,000) was
charged to the Group for their services.

The aggregate of emoluments of the highest paid Director was £1,771,687 (2021: £3,144,956). There were no contributions to defined
contribution pension schemes (2021: €nil) included within this total.
There are not considered to be further key management personnel other than the Directors of the Company.
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8. Tax expense

a) Analysis of expense in the year at 19% (2021: 19%)

Current tax expense

Current tax at 19% (2021: 18%)
Adjustrment in respect of prior years
Total current tax

Deferred tax (income) / expense

Crigination and reversat of temporary differences
Adjustment in respect of prior years

Effect of changes in tax rates

Tatal deferred tax (ses note 15)

Tax expense

b} Factors affecting current tax expense in the year

Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2022

Group Group
Year Year
ended ended
2022 2021
£000 £000
10,114 18,429
(1,915) (395)
8,199 18,034
2,253 (413)
2,170 (285)
405 (840)
4,828 (1,538)
13,027 16,496

The tax assessed in the Income Statement is higher {2021: lower) than the standard UK corporation tax rate due to the following

factors:

Profit before tax
Tax on profit at UK standard rate of 19% (2021: 19%)
Effects of:

Non-taxable income from joint ventures

Expenses not deductibie for tax purposes
Adjustment to tax expense in respect of prior years
Income not taxable

Super deduction relief

Change in tax rates

Higher tax rates on overseas earnings

Tax assets recognised on losses

Reversal of deferred tax asset previously recognised
Other

Tax expense recognised in Income Statement

c) Income tax recognised in Qther Comprehensive Income

Deferred tax debit/ (credit )in respect of retirement benefit obligations
Current tax debit/ (credit) in respect of retirement benefit obligations

Tax expense/ (income) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

9. Dividends

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:
Dividends for the year paid on ‘A’ shares

Group Group
Year Year
Ended Ended
2022 2021
£000 £000
67,504 111,324
12,826 21,152
(268) (235)
610 1,808
255 (680)
(156) (5,645)
(463) (316)
405 (840)

- (412)

(123) {160}

- 1,625

(59) 199
13,027 16,496
Group Group
Year Year
ended ended
2022 2021

2000 £000

702 2,356

{1,804) (1,445)

(1,102) 911
Year Year
ended ended
2022 2021
£000 £000
35,000 60,000

The 'A’ dividend per share totalled £3.38 (2021: £5.80). No dividends (2021: nil) were paid to the holders of ‘D', 'E’ or 'F’ ordinary

shares.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Group
Equipment
Land fixtures
and and Motor Group
buildings fittings vehicles total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2022 45,886 42,545 14,633 103,064
Additions 4,139 4,117 174 8,430
Disposals (26) (297) (2,114} (2,437)
At 31 December 2022 49,999 46,365 12,693 109,057
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2022 28,880 31,892 9,463 70,235
Depreciation charge for the year 2,401 4,752 1,267 8,420
Disposals (24) (300) (1,777) {2,101)
At 31 December 2022 31,257 36,344 8,953 76,554
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2022 17,006 10,653 5,170 32,829
At 31 December 2022 18,742 10,021 3,740 32,503
Company Equipment
Land fixtures
and and Motor Company
buildings fittings Vehicles total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2022 4,311 7,084 21 11,416
Additions 141 1,688 30 1,859
Disposals - (32) - (32}
At 31 December 2022 4,452 8,740 51 13,243
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2022 2111 2,921 - 5,032
Depreciation charge for the year 278 1,718 12 2,008
Disposals - () - (4B]
At 31 December 2022 2,389 4.638 12 7,039
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2022 2,200 4,163 21 6,384
At 31 December 2022 2,063 4,102 39 6,204
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10. Property, plant and equipment {continued)
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Group Equipment
Land fixtures
and and Motor Group
buildings fittings vehicles total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2021 43,876 34,794 15,764 94,434
Additions 1,152 4,905 1,484 7,541
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 1,256 3,185 - 4,441
Disposals (398) (B339) _(2,8615) (3,352)
At 31 December 2021 45,886 42,545 14,633 103,064
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 26,175 28,181 9,905 64,261
Depreciation charge for the year 2,836 4,037 1,689 8,562
Disposals (131) (326) {2,131) (2,588)
Al 31 December 2021 28,880 31,892 9,463 70,235
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021 17,701 6,613 5,859 30,173
At 31 December 2021 17,006 10,653 5,170 32,829
Company Equipment
Land fixtures
and and Motor Company
buildings fittings Vehicles total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2021 4,410 5671 - 10,081
Additions 170 1,413 21 1,604
Disposals (269) - - (269)
At 31 December 2021 4,311 7,084 21 11,416
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 1,856 1,271 - 3,127
Depreciation charge for the year 323 1,664 - 1,987
Disposals (67) {15) - (82)
At 31 December 2021 2,112 2,920 - 5,032
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021 2,554 4,400 - 6,954
At 31 December 2021 2,199 4,164 21 6,384
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11. intangible assets

Group Customer
Computer contracts &
Goodwlll Brands software relationships Total
2000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2022 176,469 61,239 20,274 132,858 390,840
Additions 351 - 4,353 830 5,534
Put option reassessment {1,628) - - - (1,629)
Disposals - - (994) - (994)
At 31 December 2022 175,191 61,239 23,633 133,688 303,751
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 6,705 - 13,459 80,167 100,331
Amortisation charge for the year - - 2,421 22,098 24,519
Disposals - - (135) - {135)
Impairment 767 - - - 767
At 31 December 2022 7,472 - 15,745 102,265 125,482
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2022 169,764 61,239 6,815 52,691 290,509
At 31 December 2022 167,719 61,239 7,888 31,423 268,269
Customar
Computer contracts &
Goodwill Brands software relationships Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2021 93,509 6,499 12,859 30,268 143,135
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary 82,562 54,740 3,465 104,394 245,161
undertakings -
Additions E - 4,055 - 4,055
Put option reassessment 398 - - - 398
Disposals {105) {1,804) (1,909)
At 31 December 2021 176,469 61,239 20,274 132,858 390,830
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2021 6,705 - 8,319 27,487 42,511
Amortisation charge for the year - - 5,245 54,484 59,729
Disposals - - (105) (1,804) (1,809)
At 31 December 2021 6,705 - 13,459 80,167 100,331
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021 86,804 6,498 4,540 2,781 100,624
At 31 December 2021 169,764 61,238 6,815 52,691 290,509

The brands relate to Gascoigne Halman, RMS Estate Agents, Peter Alan, Countrywide Estate Agents and Lambert Smith Hampton
(see below). In the Directors' view, these brands all have a long and successful history and have shown their ability to adapt to
changing market trends. Further, the Group will continue to invest in the brands in order to protect their value. As such, the brands have
been judged to have indefinite lives and are not amortised but are subject to annual impairment tests.

All amortisation and impairment charges in the year and the prior year have been charged through operating expenses.
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11. Intangible assets (continued)

Company
Computer
software
Total
£000
Cost
At 1.January 2022 5,644
Additions 641
Disposals 994
At 31 December 2022 5,291
Amortisation and impairment
losses
At 1 January 2022 1,865
Amortisation charge for the year 1,120
Disposals (135)
At 31 December 2022 2,850
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2022 3,779
At 31 December 2022 2,441
Computer
software
Total
£000
Cost
At 1 January 202t 3,955
Additions 1,689
At 31 December 2021 5,644
Amortisation and impairment
losses
At 1 January 2021 235
Amortisation charge for the year 1,630
At 31 December 2021 1,865
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021 3,720
At 31 December 2021 3,779
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11. Intangible assets (continued)

Goodwill and brands acquired in a business combination are allocated, at acquisition, to the individual cash generating units (CGUs)
that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying value of goodwill and brands is allocated as follows:

Group
Goodwill Brands Goodwilll Brands
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying
value value value value
2022 2022 2021 2021
Cash Generating Unit £000 £000 £000 £000
Seguence {UK) Limited 41,038 - 40,775 -
Connells Residential 6,494 - 6,494 -
Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited 5,859 - 6,202 -
Peter Alan Limited 5,770 2,317 5,770 2,317
Gascoigne Halman Group Limited 6,239 2,982 6,239 2,982
RMS Estate Agents Limited 325 1,200 325 1,200
The Asset Management Group Limited 6,391 - 8,456 -
The New Homes Group Limited 13,182 - 13,182 -
Connells Survey & Valuation 450 - 450 -
Countrywide Estate Agents 27,375 42,641 27,375 42,641
Countrywide Surveyors Limited 31,329 - 31,329 -
Lambert Smith Hampton Group Limited 14,559 12,099 14,559 12,099
Mortgage Intelligence Limited 5,386 - 5,386 -
The Buy to Let Business Limited 942 - 942 -
JAM Adpvisors Limited 2,280 - 2,280 -
167,719 61,239 169,764 61,239

During the year the put options relating to Sharman Quinney Holdings Limited and The Asset Management Group Limited were
reassessed based on current and expected trading expectations, resulting in a decrease in goodwill by £331k and £1,298k
respectively.

In December 2022 Sequence {UK) Limited completed an acquisition which increased the goodwill held by £263k.

During the year the goodwill relating to The Asset Management Group Limited was impaired by £767k based on current and expected
performance.

The recoverable amounts of goodwill and brands are determined from value-in-use calculations for the CGUs listed above.

Key assumptions

The value-in-use calculation for each of the above CGUs is most sensitive 1o the following assumptions:

» Forecast cash flows

« Long term growth rate

» Discount rates

Forecast cash flows reflect how management believe the business will perform over the short term five year period and are used to
calculate the value-in-use of the CGUs. The Group prepares cash-flow forecasts on the assumption that the subsidiaries are held for
long-term investment. The cash flows for the Estate Agency and Survey and Valuation businesses are derived from the most recent
financial budgets for the next five years, which take into account the risks inherent in the businesses.

The growth rate reflects how management believe the business will perform over the long term, and extrapolate cash flows for
subsequent years, generally based on a long-term growth rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%).

Discount rates reflect management’'s estimate of the post-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WAGC) of the Group and this is the

benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future acquisition proposals. The pre-tax discount
rate was 17.63% (2021: 13.59%)
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11. Intangible assets {continued)
Sensilivities

Management has undertaken sensitivity analyses to determine the effect of changes in assumptions on the 2022 impairment reviews.
The key assumptions driving the carrying values are the discount rate applied to the cash flow forecasts and the growth rates within the
cash flow forecast for both the next five years and the long term.

Management have considered the CGUs under various scenarios and concluded that there is significant headroom over the majority of
the CGUs. The CGU with the least headroom was Asset Management Group Limited.

For Asset Management Group, to test the sensitivity the discount rate was increased by 1%, leading to an additional impairment of
£1.0m. As an additional test to the sensitivity the long term growth rate was decreased by 2.5%, leading to an additional impairment of
£0.6m and a 5% decrease would lead to an additional impairment of £0.9m .For the 5 year forecast cash flows were reduced by 5%
which would give rise to an additional impairment of £0.5m, however when reduced by 10% an additional impairment of £1.1m would
arise.

Across the remaining CGUs, it would require a significant decline in performance to trigger an impairment. To test the sensitivity the

discount rate was increased by 1% to 18.63%, resulting in an impairment of £0.3m. The sensitivity to the long term growth rate was
also tested, decreases of 2.5% year on year would result in an impairment of £0.4m,

12. Right-of-use assets

Group
Land Equipment Motor Group
and £000 vehicles total
buildings £000 £000
£000
Cost
At 1 January 2022 118,954 5,750 1,650 126,354
Additions 22,078 887 10,198 33,185
Disposals {29,128) {180) (196) (29,504)
Modifications 13,247 - - 13,247
At 31 December 2022 125,152 6,457 11,653 143,262
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2022 43,232 1,982 979 46,193
Depraciation charge for the year 28,989 1,788 929 31,706
Impairment™ 631 - - 631
Disposals (27,200 (167) (169) {27,536)
At 31 December 2022 45,652 3,603 1,739 50,994
Carrying amounts
At t January 2022 75,722 3,768 671 80,161
At 31 December 2022 79,500 2,854 9,914 92,268

*During the year ended 31 December 2022, £0.7m {2021:€nil) of impairment losses previously incurred in relation to Estate Agency
branches were reversed, such reversals have baen included within the Land and Buildings Impairment total above.
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12. Right-of-use assets (continued)

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2022
Additions

At 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2022

Depreciation charge for the year

At 31 December 2022

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2022

Al 31 December 2022

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2021

Additions

Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings
Disposals

Modifications

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021

Depreciation charge for the year

Impairment

Disposals

Modifications

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021
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Land Equipment Motor Company

and £000 vehicles total

buildings £000 £000
£000

- 207 - 207

5 2 10,089 10,096

5 209 10,089 10,303

- 4 - 4

- 71 632 703

- 112 632 744

- 166 - 166

5 97 9,457 9,559

Land Equipment Motor Group

and £000 vehicles total

buildings £000 £000
£000

62,794 5,383 1,229 69,416

7.9%1 273 421 8,685

46,086 o6 403 46,585

(5,712) - (403) (6,115)

7,785 {12) - 7,783

118,954 5,750 1,650 126,354

24,113 809 606 25,528

24,065 1,173 758 25,996

416 - - 4186

(5,364) (385) (5,749)

2 - - 2

43,232 1,982 979 46,193

38,681 4,584 623 43,888

75,722 3,768 671 80,161
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12. Right-of-use assets (cantinued)

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2021
Additions

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021

Depreciation charge for the year

At 31 December 2021

Carrylng amounts

At 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021

13. Investments
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Land Equipment Motor Company

and £000 vehicles total

buildings £000 £000
£000

- 207 - 207

- 207 - 207

44 - 4

- a1 - A1

- 166 - 166

At 31 December 2022, the Company owns equity share capital in the following joint venture, which is incorporated and trades in the

UK, as follows:

Name of joint venture

Cybele Solutions Heldings Limited

Nature of business

Conveyancing services

Proportion of
ordinary
shares held
2022

50.0%

Proportion of
ordinary
shares held
2021

50.0%

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company’s holdings in TM Group (UK) Limited and Vibrant Energy Matters Limited
became subsidiaries via step acquisition. The Group subsequently disposed of its entire shareholding in TM Group (UK) Limited

during the year ended 31 December 2021.

There are no significant restrictions over the joint venture’s ability to pay cash dividends.

Joint ventures are recognised within these financial statements using the equity accounting method.

Group

Joint Ventures

Balance at 1 January

Share of joint venture profits after tax
Dividends received

Transferred to subsidiaries

At 31 December

39

Group Group
2022 2021
£000 £000

9,478 13,264
1,410 1,237
(750) (2,139)

- (2,886)

10,136 9,476
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13. Investments {continued)

Investment in joint ventures

Share of joint venture’s
MNon-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net assets at 31 December

Share of Joint venture’s

Income

Admin expenses

Depreciation and amortisation

Profit before tax

Taxation

Profit and total comprehensive income

Group Group
2022 2021
£000 £000

9,410 8,907
3,082 2,617

(2,356) {2,048)

10,136 9,476

11,719 12,747

(2,052) {10,496)
912) (724)

1,755 1,527
(345) (280)
1,410 1,237

The following table details financial information for the jeint venture held at 31 December 2022, together with the Group's share.

Cybele Solutions Holdings Limited

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets at 31 December

Group’s share of net assets

Investment

Carrying amount of interest ih joint ventures

Income

Admin expenses

Depreciation and amortisation

Interest income

Profit before tax

Taxation

Profit and total comprehensive income

Group's share of profit and total comprehensive income

2022 2021
£000 £000
8,073 7,066
6,165 5,233
(4,225) {4,095)
(489) -
9,524 8,204
2,762 4,102
5,374 5,374
10,136 9,476
23,440 17,807
{18,105) (14,458)
(1.823) {1,346)
3,512 2,003
(691) (462)
2,821 1,541
1,410 770

The following tables detail financial information for those former joint ventures, together with the Group's share. The share of profit and
total comprehensive income is shown up to 8 March 2021, the date at which they became subsidiaries.

TM Group (UK) Limlited

Income

Admin expenses

Depreciation and amortisation

Interest income

Profit before tax

Taxation

Profit and total comprehensive income

Group's share of profit and total comprehensive income

2022 2021
£000 £000

. 9,266
- {7.809)
. (135)

. 1,328
- (129)

- 1,199

- 399
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13. Investments (continued)

Vibrant Energy Matters Limited 2022 2021

£000 £000
Income - 1,625
Admin expenses - {1,429)
Depreciation and amortisation - {14)
Profit before tax - 182
Taxation - (35)
Profit and total comprehensive income - 147
Group’s share of profit and total comprehensive income - 68

The Company’s investments comprise the cost of the whole of the issued and fully paid ordinary share capital substantially owned
directly or indirectly ot its subsidiary undertakings together with its investments in joint ventures, all of which are incorporated in
Great Britain, and whose operations are conducted in the United Kingdom,

Company Shares in group Intevest in joint
undertakings ventures and
£000 associates Total
£000 £000

Cost
At 1 January 2022 255,093 7,910 263,003
Additions - - -
Put option reassessment {1,629) - (1.629)
At 31 December 2022 253,464 7,910 261,374
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 4,860 1,000 5,860
impairment - - -
Transferred on step acquisition - - -
At 31 December 2022 4,860 1,000 5,860
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2022 250,233 6,910 257,143
At 31 December 2022 248,604 6,910 255,514
Cost
At 1 January 2021 122,333 12,772 135,111
Additions 132,356 - 132,356
Transterred on step acquisition 4,862 {4,862) -
Disposals {4,862) - (4,862)
Put option reassessment 398 - 388
At 31 December 2021 255,093 7,910 263,003
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2021 4,860 1,456 6,316
Impairment - - -
Transferred on step acquisition - (458) {456)
At 1 31 December 2021 4,860 1,000 5,860
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2021 117,479 11,316 128,785
At 31 December 2021 250,233 6,910 257,143
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

13. Investments (continued)

Connells Limited
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2022

Al 31 December 2022, the Company owns equity share capital in the following trading subsidiary underiakings, which are alt

incorporated in the UK:

Name of subsidiary undertaking Principal nature of business Proportion of Proportion
ordinary of ordinary
shares held shares held
2022 2021

AMG North East Limited® Asset management 100%2 100%2

AMG Projects Limited® Maintenance of properties for resale 100%2 100%2

AgencyPro Limited® Provision of regulatory training 100%"3 100%'3

Associated Employers Limited” Recniitmant Services 100%" 100%'*

Capital Private Finance Limited Financial Services 100%% 100%15

Connells Residential® Residential estate agency 100% 100%

Connells Survey & Valuation Limiteg® Residential surveying and valuations 100% 100%

Conveyancing Direct Limited? Licensed Conveyancer 100% 100%

Countrywide Estate Agents? Estate Agency and Lettings 100%'¢ 100%"'8

Countrywide Group Holdings Limited? Holding company 100%'S 100%"°

Countrywide Group Limited? Holding company 100%'% 100%"9

Countrywide Limitea® Holding company 100% 100%

Countrywide Principal Services Limited’ Financial Services 1009%'® 100%'®

Countrywide Property Lawyers Limited Conveyancing Services 100%'® 100%8

Countrywide Surveyors Limited® Surveying Services 100%'® 100%"°

Gascoigne Halman Group Limited?® Intermediate holding company 92.75% 82.75%

Gascoigne Halman Limited® Residential estate agency 10